
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
Alexandria Division

VALADOR, INC.,

Plaintiff,

V.

HTC CORPORATION, et aL,

Defendants.

Case No. l:16-cv-1162

MEMORANDUM OPINION

At issue in this trademark infringement and cybersquatting case is the parties' use of the

term, "VIVE," in connection with their respective products or services. Plaintiff, Valador, Inc.,

alleges that each defendant, HTC Corporation, HTC America, Inc., and Valve Corporation, has

infringed on plaintiffs VIVE mark through defendants' alleged marketing, advertising, and

selling of a headset, the "HTC Vive," a hardware device capable of running software that renders

three-dimensional images. Plaintiff further contends that HTC Corporation's use of website

domain names containing the word, "VIVE," constitutes unlawful cybersquatting. The parties

have filed cross motions for summary judgment on the following remaining Counts':

• Count I; Trademark infringement, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1114(l)(a), against all
defendants.

• Count II: Unfair competition and false designation of origin, in violation of 15 U.S.C. §
1125(a), against all defendants.

• Count III: Cybersquatting, in violation of the Anti-Cybersquatting Consumer Protection
Act ("ACPA"), 15 U.S.C. § 1125(d), against defendant HTC Corporation.

The SAC originally included five Counts, two of which—common law conspiracy and Virginia
statutory conspiracy—were dismissed against all defendants pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), Fed. R.
Civ. P. See Valador v. HTC Corp., No. l:16-cv-1162 (E.D. Va. Jan. 13, 2017) (Order). Count
III—cybersquatting—was similarlydismissedagainstdefendants HTC America and Valve. Id.
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with the Blue Cross Blue Shield language, while the [other] mark is always presented by itself,

or at most with the suffix

These principles demonstrate that the second likelihood-of-confusion factor weighs

against finding a likelihood of confusion. To be sure, the two marks here are textually similar—

both use the term, "VFVE." But textual similarity' alone is insufficient. See id. (a comparison of

similar or identical text "is insufficient if the marks have different appearances in the

marketplace").'̂ Notably, plaintiff relies exclusively on a comparison of the texts of the two

marks, but plaintiff does not—and cannot—contest that the marks have different appearances in

the marketplace. In this respect, the undisputed record evidence reflects that plaintiff almost

never stylizes its mark, and when it does, plaintiff uses its company logo, which does not

resemble any of defendants' logos. Contrast plaintifTs plain "VIVE" mark with the undisputed

evidence that HTC Corporation's "'VIVE" mark almost always appears next to defendants'

stylized "HTC" and "SteamVR" trademarks and a neon blue triangle. Here, as in CareFirst, the

marks at issue have different appearances in the marketplace. See id

Thus, despite the textual similarity of the two "VIVE" marks, this factor weighs

decisively in defendants' favorand againsta finding of likelihood of confiision.

(3) The Similarity of the Goods or Services that the Marks Identify

Like the second likelihood-of-confusion factor, this third factor severely undermines

plaintiff's Lanham Act claims. This is so for the simple reason that the parties' marks identify

strikingly different goods or services in different markets.

See also George, 575 F.3d at 396 (holding that two producers of the same board-game did not
have similar marks, despite using "LCR" and "Left Center Right," respectively, because "the
manner in which the marks are used on their respective packaging distinguishes the two marks").
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The key dispute on summary judgment is whether HTC Corporation acted with a bad 

faith intent to profit from plaintiff's ''VIVE" mark. In this respect, the statute provides a non-

exclusive list of nine factors to consider in evaluating bad faith intent to profit, including: 

1) defendant's trademark or other intellectual property rights in the allegedly offending
domain name,

2) whether the domain name contains defendant's legal name,

3) defendant's prior use of the domain name in connection with a bona fide business,

4) defendant's bona fide noncommercial or fair use of the mark,

5) defendant's intent to divert customers from plaintiff,

6) defendant's offer to sell the domain name,

7) defendant's provision of false registration information,

8) defendant's registration or acquisition of multiple domain names with knowledge that
the domain names are identical or confusingly similar to plaintiff's mark, and

9) the strength of plaintiffs mark.

See id. § l 125(d)(l)(B)(i).27

27 As HTC Corporation correctly notes, the "paradigmatic" cybersquatting claim involves a 
defendant seeking to sell allegedly infringing domains to the holder of a protected mark. See 
Lamparello v. Falwell, 420 F.3d 309, 318 ( 4th Cir. 2005). Yet defendant incorrectly asserts that 
the paradigm also constitutes a ceiling-that the ACP A covers no more than a defendant's 
extortionate offer to sell an infringing domain name to the trademark owner. To prevail on an 
ACP A claim, a plaintiff need not prove that a cyber-squatter made an extortionate demand. This 
is because, as the Lampare/lo court observed, the ACP A was enacted "to stop the registration of 
[i) multiple marks with the hope of selling them to the highest bidder, [ii] distinctive marks to 
defraud consumers or to engage in counterfeiting activities, and [iii) well-known marks to prey 
on consumer confusion by misusing the domain name to divert customers from the mark owner's 
site to the cybersquatter's own site[.]" Id. Indeed, an extortionate demand is merely one of nine 
non-exclusive factors to consider when determining whether a defendant acted with a bad faith 
intent to profit, in violation of the ACPA. See 15 U.S.C. § l l25(d)(l)(B)(i)(VI); see also 
Gioconda Law Grp. PLLC v. Kenzie, 941 F. Supp. 2d 424, 435 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (noting that an 
"extortionate demand" is not "always necessary" to prove an ACPA violation). 

Nonetheless, given the undisputed factual record here, no reasonable jury could conclude 
that HTC Corporation acted with bad faith intent to profit within the meaning of the ACP A. 
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Clearing Co., 16 F. App'x at 110 (concluding that "a key factor in the bad faith determination" is 

an intent to "register a variety of domain names, but not 10 use them n). 

Given the totality of circumstances and the undisputed factual record, no reasonable juror 

could conclude that HTC Corporation acted with bad faith intent to profit from plaintiff's Jl'lark. 

Thus. HTC Corporation is entitled to summary judgment on plaiiltifrs cybersquatting claim. 

JV. 

For the foregoing reasons. plaintiff's motion for summary judgment must be denied, ond 

defendants' cross motion for summary jlldgment must be granted. 

An appropriate Order will issue. 

Alexandria, Virginia 
March 15, 2017 

T. S .. Ellis, Ill
United States Dl
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